# Aus dem Deutschen Herzzentrum Berlin der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

DISSERTATION

# Prediction of Short–Term Outcomes in Patients with Idiopathic Dilated Cardiomyopathy Referred for Transplantation using Standard Echocardiography and Strain Imaging

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doctor medicinae (Dr. med.)

vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Ruta Jasaityte

aus Vilnius, Litauen

Gutachter: 1. Priv.-Doz. Dr. med. M. Dandel

2. Prof. Dr. med. Ch. Witt

3. Prof. Dr. med. B. Reichart

Datum der Promotion: 16.01.2009

# Contents

1. Preamble	5
2. Background	5
2.1. Dilated cardiomyopathy	5
2.1.1. Definitiona and epidemiology	5
2.1.2. The place of DCM in the classification of cardiomyopathies	6
2.1.3. Etiology	6
2.1.4. Pathologic anatomy: macroscopic and microscopic features	8
2.1.5. Pathophysiology	9
2.1.6. Symptoms	11
2.1.7. Diagnosis	13
2.1.8. Treatment principles	15
2.1.9. Prognostic markers in end-stage DCM	20
2.2. Strain imaging	22
2.2.1. Definition	22
2.2.2. Myocardial strain	23
2.2.3. Strain imaging by TDI	24
2.2.4. Strain imaging by speckle tracking	25
2.2.5. Parameters	27
2.2.6. Clinical applications	27
3. Study	33
3.1. Objective	33
3.2. Methods	33
3.2.1. Patient selection and study design	33

	3.2.2.	Echocardiographic examination and strain imaging	34
	3.2.3.	Statistical analysis	35
	3.3. Re	esults	38
	3.3.1.	Study group characteristics	38
	3.3.2.	Systolic standard echocardiographic parameters	41
	3.3.3.	Systolic 2D strain imaging parameters	41
	3.3.4.	Synchronicity of LV systolic function	42
	3.3.5.	Diastolic standard echocardiographic and 2D strain imaging parameters	43
	3.3.6.	Correlation with other prognostic markers	44
	3.3.7.	Predictive value	48
	3.4. Di	scussion	51
	3.4.1.	Short term prognosis in patients with end-stage idiopathic DCM	51
	3.4.2.	Diastolic dysfunction	52
	3.4.3.	Dyssynergy and dyssynchrony of left ventricular systolic function	53
	3.4.3.	The role of strain imaging in predicting short term clinical deterioration	55
	3.5. Co	onclusion	55
4.	Summai	.у	56
5.	Abbrevi	ations	58
6.	Referen	ces	60

# 1. Preamble

Idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) is considered the most common cause of chronic heart failure syndrome in Western countries. Despite advanced pharmacologic treatment DCM remains a progressive condition with high mortality rates (1). A possible treatment option for end-stage idiopathic DCM is heart transplantation (HTx), yet the waiting time on HTx list continues to increase and many patients die on the waiting lists. The criteria used for patient listing for HTx or high-urgency HTx are of vital importance, thus the need for more reliable predictors of the time course of heart failure (HF) has become increasingly important. Although many studies analyzing the long term predictors of HF course have been published (2-5), the data on short term prognostic markers in patients with DCM, which could be helpful in HTx listing, are scarce.

# 2. Background

# 2.1. Dilated cardiomyopathy

### 2.1.1. Definition and epidemiology

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines DCM as a condition in which the ventricular chambers exhibit increased diastolic and systolic volume and a low (<40%) ejection fraction (1,2). The prevalence of DCM in the adult population in Western countries is 1-1,5% and as already mentioned it is considered as the most common cause of chronic HF syndrome. The natural history of the condition is progressive. Despite improved treatment, the mortality rate for dilated cardiomyopathy remains high, with a median period of survival of 1.7 years for men and 3.2 years for women (1). A minority of patients with recent-onset DCM improve spontaneously, even some sick enough initially to be considered for cardiac transplantation. Cost, disability, and morbidity of DCM are among the highest of any disease (3-5).

### 2.1.2. The place of DCM in the classification of cardiomyopathies

The 1995 WHO/ISFC (International Society and Federation of Cardiology) classification of cardiomyopathies was based mainly on the anatomic descriptions of cardiac chambers in systole and diastole, but the pathopysiologic background, natural history and response to treatment of these conditions were not considered. Therefore recently an American Heart Association scientific group prepared a new classification (6), where DCM and restrictive cardiomyopathy are defined as mixed cardiomyopathies (predominately non-genetic). Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, caused by mutations in contractile proteins, Ion channelopathies, arrythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia (cardiomyopathy) and left ventricular noncompaction, which also have genetic reasons, were defined as genetic cardiomyopathies. As acquired cardiomyopathies the following were classified: peripartum, tachycardia-induced, stress-provoked (Tako-Tsubo syndrome) cardiomyopathies and myocarditis. Genetic cardiomyopathies without unique phenotype and with multiorgan involvement (eg. Duchenne muscular dystrophy, Friedriech ataxia, myotonic dystrophy) were considered secondary.

## 2.1.3. Etiology

Heart chamber dilation can be caused or accelerated by the following processes and agents (7):

- Genetic reasons (autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive, X-linked inheritance)
- Specific heart muscle diseases (myocardial ischemia, valvular heart disease, chronic systemic hypertension)
- Metabolic diseases (nutritional deficiencies, endocrine disorders (e.g. diabetes mellitus hypothyroidism, thyrotoxicosis, Cushing disease, pheochromocytoma), electrolyte disturbances (e.g. hypocalcemia, hypophosphatemia)
- Infections (viral, bacterial, rickettsial, mycobacterial, fungal, spirochetal, parasitic)
- Toxins (e.g. alcohol, anthracyclines, antiretroviral agents, cocaine, lithium, phenothiazines)
- Systemic, autoimmune diseases (e.g, systemic lupus erythematosus, amyloidosis, sarcoidosis)
- Peripartum state
- Tachyarrythmias (supraventricular, ventricular, atrial fluter)
- Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia or cardiomyopathy

- Neuromuscular dystrophies (e.g. X-linked cardioskeletal myopathy)
- Hematologic disorders (e.g, chronic anemia, as in sickle cell disease or thalassemia)
- Idiopathic DCM.

The variety of possible etiologic factors shows how heterogeneous the phenotype of dilated cardiomyopathy is. Thus differential diagnosis of DCM might also be very complicated. Idiopathic DCM can be considered only when after rigorous evaluation all other possible etiologic factors are excluded; and even then idiopathic DCM makes up more than a half of patients with DCM.

A lot of scientists work to elucidate the possible reasons for idiopathic DCM, most of them concentrating on genetic and autoimmune mechanisms. Transmitted genetic alterations responsible for familial DCM have already been identified. However none of the other revealed genetic or autoimmune system alterations can independently cause idiopathic DCM.

### Genetics

Three main categories of genetic mechanisms are involved in the development of DCM: single gene defects, altered expression of normal genes and polymorphic variations in modifier genes. Familial dilated cardiomyopathies are associated with multiple single gene mutations, usually encoding cytoskeletal, nuclear membrane, or contractile proteins, including desmin, titin, and troponin T. The transmission is usually autosomal dominant, although autosomal recessive and X-linked inheritance is also known (8).

In all types of cardiomyopathies, when heart failure progresses, altered expression of normal, so called wild-type genes can be found. The examples are as follows: downregulation of beta1-adrenoreceptors, ATPase genes, upregulation of atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), ACE, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) alfa, endothelin, etc. (9)

The last genetic mechanism, which could probably contribute to the genesis of idiopathic DCM, is based on polymorphic variations (slightly different size or number) of modifier genes. These are not so rare in population, and usually they do not cause any differences in function and are considered normal. Yet some of these polymorphisms can cause differences in the function of encoded proteins, which might be considered as biological variation, but also might account for a higher susceptibility for disease or different response to treatment. Polymorphic variants of genes encoding angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), angiotensin AT1 receptors, beta2-adrenoreceptors, alfa1 adrenoreceptors with or without beta1-adrenoreceptor polymorphism and endothelin receptor type A are known to influence the natural history of cardiomyopathies. Moreover pharmacogenomic studies have shown that polymorphic variations also influence the different response to medications.

#### *Autoimmunity*

Several immune regulatory abnormalities have been identified in DCM, including humoral (10), and cellular autoimmune reactivity against myocytes (11), decreased natural killer cell activity (12), and abnormal suppressor cell activity (13). It is possible that certain antibodies present in DCM may have important functional implications (14). For example, anti–beta1-adrenergic receptor antibodies could modify beta-adrenergic receptor activity and produce chronic increases in signal transduction that are harmful to the failing heart (15).

Human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) associations have also been identified in DCM. This suggests a possible immunologic etiology for this disease. However, specific HLAs are present in <50 percent of patients with DCM, and the heterogeneity of these antigens does not point to a unique site for a putative disease-associated gene (17). Thus, although the autoimmune hypothesis is an attractive candidate for the etiology of idiopathic DCM, it still remains unproved.

# 2.1.4. Pathological anatomy: macroscopic and microscopic features

DCM is characterized by initial dilation of left ventricle (LV) and later of all four cardiac chambers with myocyte hypertrophy and diminished systolic function. However the degree of hypertrophy is often less than might be expected given the severe dilation present. Total cardiac mass in DCM is increased. Grossly visible scars may be present in both ventricles: most of them are small, but some may be large and transmural. Scarring occurs in the absence of significant narrowing of the epicardial coronary arteries. The cardiac valves are intrinsically normal, and intracavitary thrombi, particularly in the ventricular apex, also as mural endocardial plaques (from the organization of thrombi) are not uncommon (8,9). Microscopic study reveals extensive areas of interstitial and perivascular fibrosis, particularly involving the left ventricular subendocardium. Small areas of necrosis and cellular infiltrate are also seen. There is marked variation in myocyte size; some myocardial cells are hypertrophied, and others are atrophied. In isolated cardiac myocytes, the major cellular phenotypic change is a marked increase in cell length without a concomitant increase in diameter.

No viruses or other etiological agents have been identified with any regularity in tissue from patients with DCM. Particularly disappointing has been the failure to identify any

immunological, histochemical, morphological, ultrastructural, or microbiological marker that might be used to establish the diagnosis of idiopathic DCM or to clarify its cause (8,9).

### 2.1.5. Pathophysiology

### Neuroendocrine system

The progression of HF is consistent in patients with different etiologies, as it is ultimately driven by very similar biologically active molecules, regardless of the inciting cause (18). Compensatory mechanisms that are activated after the initial decline in the pumping capacity of the heart are able to modulate LV function within the physiologic range. Therefore the functional capacity of the patient at the beginning is preserved or depressed only minimally. The early activation of the adrenergic nervous system (ANS) and salt-water retaining reninangiotensin system (RAS) preserve cardiac output by increasing heart rate and contractility and expanding the plasma volume. In order to reduce wall stress hypertrophy develops. To counteract the excessive vasoconstriction resulting from excessive activation of ANS and RAS, the family of vasodilatory molecules, including natriuretic peptides, prostaglandins (PGE2, PGEI2) and nitric oxide, is activated (18-20). Yet for a longer time all these compensatory mechanisms show adverse affects, such as altered gene expression, resulting in changes in cardiac myocytes, growth and remodelling and apoptosis. Excessive adrenergic stimulation has a toxic effect on the myocytes and results in their necrosis. Angiotensin II through collagen deposition enhances myocardial fibrosis.

### Changes at the myocyte and myocardium level

In addition to excessive neuroendocrine stimulation, altered expression of genes causes defects of their encoded proteins or regulatory mechanisms and further enhances myocardial contractile dysfunction. These phenomena may be divided into two groups: changes in intrinsic and in modulated heart function. The intrinsic heart function means the contraction and relaxation of the myocardium in the resting state, which is not influenced by hormonal or neural factors. Modulated heart function might be stimulated or inhibited by extrinsic factors (neurotransmiters, cytokines, autocrine/paracrine substances and hormones). It is very important for the response to the changed physiologic conditions or physical stimuli (20).

The changes in intrinsic function in the failing heart comprise an altered length-tension relation, a blunted force-frequency response and signals responsible for the abnormal cellular and chamber remodelling (20). As during remodelling cardiac myocytes become greatly lengthened relative to transverse diameter, the wall stress, which is one of the determinants of myocardial oxygen consumption, increases (20,22,23). Moreover myocyte energy production is inadequate due to deficiencies in subcellular ion flux mechanisms or the myosin ATPase cycle (20,21). All this places the heart at energetic disadvantage and further contributes to contractile dysfunction.

Most of the changes in the modulated heart function occur in beta-adrenergic signal transduction (24). The ability of beta-adrenergic stimulation to increase heart rate and contractility is affected in the failing heart due to the changes in receptors, G-proteins and adenylate cyclise, which influence myocardial reserve and exercise responses. Nevertheless the inhibition of modulated heart function is also abnormal in heart failure as a result of the reduced parasympathetic drive (9,20).

At the myocardial level firstly the myocyte loss contributes to pump dysfunction in heart failure. Myocyte loss can occur via toxic mechanisms, producing necrosis, or by programmed cell death, producing apoptosis (9). There is experimental evidence that myonecrosis might be triggered by elevated levels of circulating or tissue norepinephrine, or by excessive stimulation with angiotensin II or endothelin (25,26). It has been proved in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models that apoptosis can be triggered by multiple factors taking part in the pathogenesis of heart failure, such as myocardial stretch, norepinephrine, TNF, oxidative stress, angiotensin II. Yet all the currently available assessments of myocyte apoptosis in failing hearts have been performed on explanted hearts from heart transplantation recipients, many of whom were receiving inotropic support. As catecholamines are also known to provoke apoptosis, it remains unclear whether apoptosis occurs only in end-stage HF or whether it contributes to progression of cardiac remodelling and systolic dysfunction (18).

After the death of myocytes the deposition of fibrillar collagen in the extracellular matrix occurs. This "replacement fibrosis" as well as perivascular fibrosis around the intramyocardial blood vessels can be triggered by angiotensin II, endothelin and aldosterone. It might contribute to the progression of contractile dysfunction.

Recently it has been suggested that within the failing myocardium collagenolytic enzymes, known as metalloproteinases (MMPs), become activated. They lead to the progressive degradation of the extracellular matrix, which accounts for the LV wall thinning and dilation.

TNF and other cytokines and peptide growth factors that are expressed in the failing myocardium are capable of activating MMPs (18).

#### Changes in left ventricular geometry and architecture

There are two different opinions about the role of LV remodelling. Some investigators view it as the end-organ response to long–lasting neurohormonal stimulation and to changes occurring at myocardial level; others suggest that LV remodelling might contribute independently to the progression of heart failure (27,28) and first of all by the increase in LV wall stress. The increase in LV end-diastolic wall stress occurs as a result of the increase in LV size and the change in its geometry from ellipsical to a more spherical shape. Given that the load of the ventricle at end-diastole contributes to the afterload that the ventricle faces at the onset of systole, it follows that LV dilation itself increases the work and also the oxygen utilization. This increase in afterload created by LV dilation together with LV wall thinning occurring during the remodelling contributes to the decrease in cardiac output (18,29). The high end-diastolic wall stress might lead to episodic hypoperfusion of the subendocardium, with a resultant worsening of LV function (18,30) and increased oxidative stress, with a resultant activation of genes sensitive to free radical generation (eg., TNF and interleukin-1beta).

Moreover, in the dilated spherical ventricle the papillary muscles are pulled apart, which results in incompetence of the mitral valve and the development of "functional mitral regurgitation" (41). First of all this causes the loss of forward blood flow, and secondly the regurgitant flow further overloads the ventricle.

It seems that, when the deleterious changes in cardiac function and remodelling are advanced enough, they become self–sustaining and are capable of driving disease progression independently of the neurohormonal status of the patient.

### 2.1.6. Symptoms

Most of the patients remain asymptomatic for a long time and are not aware of their disease. First clinical presentation may be abrupt with acute pulmonary edema, systemic or pulmonary emboli or even sudden death, but more often patients present with typical signs and symptoms of chronic heart failure such as breathlessness, in particular exertional dyspnoea, orthopnea, paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea, fatigue, peripheral edema, palpitations, hepatomegaly, cachexia, raised jugular venous pressure and other symptoms. Arrhythmias are also common in these patients.

Even though the severity of LV dysfunction only weakly correlates with symptoms, they alone can be used to classify the severity of chronic heart failure and to monitor the response to treatment. The New York Heart Association (NYHA) classification is one of the most widely used: (8,9,42).

- NYHA Class I no limitations of physical activity;
- NYHA Class II slight limitation of physical activity symptoms with ordinary level of exertion (e.g. walking upstairs);
- NYHA Class III marked limitation of physical activity symptoms with minimal levels of exertion (e.g. dressing);
- NYHA Class IV symptoms at rest.

The more recent classification of HF stages by American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA) involves also patients, without heart disease, yet with the risk factors: the ones who would profit from early HF treatment. The HF stages according to ACC/AHA HF classification are:

- Stage I high risk for developing heart failure (HF). Patient description:
  - ✓ Hypertension
  - ✓ Coronary artery disease
  - ✓ Diabetes mellitus
- Stage II asymptomatic HF. Patient description:
  - ✓ Previous MI
  - ✓ LV hypertrophy or systolic dysfunction
  - ✓ Asymptomatic valvular disease
- Stage III symptomatic HF. Patient description:
  - ✓ Known structural heart disease
  - ✓ Shortness of breath and fatigue
  - ✓ Reduced exercise tolerance
- Stage IV refractory end-stage HF. Patient description:
  - Marked symptoms at rest despite maximal medical therapy (e.g., those who are recurrently hospitalized or cannot be safely discharged from the hospital without specialized interventions).

Stage II of this classification corresponds to NYHA class I, stage III to NYHA classes II and III, and stage IV to NYHA class IV. Stage I patients have only risk factors. However heart failure should not only be treated at symptomatic stages, but also prevented through the early treatment of risk factors and, when present, asymptomatic left ventricular (LV) dysfunction.

### 2.1.7. Diagnosis

Diagnosis is established by appropriate symptoms, physical examination, electrocardiography (ECG), chest X-ray, cardiac imaging (usually echocardiography, but might also be cardiac magnetic resonance or computed tomography) and cardiac catheterization. Additional information is provided by blood analysis, urinalysis and plasma natriuretic peptide concentration.

### Electrocardiogram

ECG may reveal signs of left ventricular hypertrophy such as increased QRS voltage in the standard and precordial leads, ST segment and T wave abnormalities and left atrial abnormality. Arrhythmias and sinus tachycardia are common with non-specific T wave changes and poor R wave in anterior chest leads. It has been suggested that a completely normal ECG is very unlikely in a person with heart failure, but its positive predictive value is low in the elderly where ECG abnormality is common (8,9,42).

### Chest X-ray

The main role for a chest radiograph is to exclude other causes for dyspnea—such as pleural effusion, pneumothorax, lung carcinoma, or pneumonia. Cardiothoracic ratio is only of moderate value in identifying heart failure as the cause of breathlessness. Echocardiography has replaced chest radiography as the method of determining cardiac chamber dimensions. However, in acute deterioration pulmonary congestion with interstitial edema, pleural effusions and Kerley B lines might be seen (8,9,42).

### **Echocardiography**

The characteristic DCM features, such as impaired left ventricular contractility, reduced cardiac output and elevated left ventricular end-diastolic pressure, can be evaluated by echocardiography. From standard 2D and M-Mode images left ventricular global and regional systolic function and right ventricular systolic function can be qualitatively evaluated, LV end-systolic and end-diastolic dimensions or volumes, revealing LV dilatation can be obtained

and the ejection fraction can be calculated. Apical four chamber view is most suitable for the evaluation of LV dilation relative to other chambers; it also reveals the sphericity of the left ventricle. In DCM myocardial walls are often thin. Apical views are also suitable for the measurement of left ventricular volumes and for calculation of LV ejection fraction by the Simpson method. When severe LV dilatation is present a careful search for apical LV thrombus might be indicated, as also in the case of atrial fibrillation – a search for atrial thrombi (43,44).

The subcostal views are helpful when looking for signs of right heart insufficiency: congested hepatic veins and absence of inspiratory inferior caval vein collapse (44).

Doppler imaging reveals reduced aortic ejection velocity and velocity-time integral, indicating a reduced stroke volume. Associated mitral regurgitation usually of moderate severity is also usually seen, and a slow rate of rise in velocity of mitral regurgitant jet (dP/dt) shows an inreased LV pressure in early systole. Pulmonary pressures can be estimated from the velocity in the tricuspid regurgitant jet. The LV diastolic filling can be evaluated from left ventricular inflow by Doppler methods. In the early DCM stages a reduced E wave velocity and increased A wave velocity show impaired early diastolic relaxation. With further deteriorating LV function, left atrial pressure and LV end-diastolic pressure increases, resulting in an increase in E wave velocity and a decrease in A wave velocity (43,44).

#### Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging provides high-resolution images of cardiac structure and ventricular function. Contrast agents such as gadolinium can provide information on inflammation, fibrosis and myocardial perfusion. Valve function can also be assessed, although with less reliability than myocardial structure and function. Although becoming mainstream in large hospitals, the expense of the equipment and its lack of portability makes it of limited use in clinical routine (9).

### Cardiac catheterization

Cardiac catheterization is firstly performed to exclude coronary artery disease. It also allows measurement of intracardiac pressures, estimation of cardiac output, detection of valve abnormalities, quantification of left ventricular ejection fraction, and the detection of epicardial coronary artery disease. Diastolic function can be assessed in detail. The ventricular biopsy performed during catheterization might be useful in revealing myocarditis.

### Cardiopulmonary exercise test

Functional capacity is assessed from the clinical history or preferably measured by an exercise test. The cardiopulmonary exercise test measures the integrated response of the

pulmonary, cardiovascular, and muscular systems to a steadily increasing workload. The assessment of a normal work capacity is made by evaluation of the peak oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>max). Although this parameter depends not only on cardiac reserve, but also on age, gender, muscle mass, deconditioning and pulmonary diseases, it is still widely used as a prognostic factor and criterion for HTx listing (8,9,42).

### Laboratory examinations

B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) is secreted by the heart, and the plasma concentration is elevated in left ventricular hypertrophy or dysfunction (systolic or diastolic), and particularly in those with heart failure. The current European and North American heart failure guidelines suggest that the measurement of the plasma concentration of BNPs or NT-proBNP can be useful in confirming or refuting a diagnosis of heart failure, particularly at the time of first presentation in the acute setting. However although normal BNP or NT-proBNP values suggest normal LV function, high values do not necessarily show severe HF. Apart from cardiac causes, natriuretic peptide elevation may be caused by renal dysfunction, pulmonary diseases, pulmonary embolism, sepsis, cirrhosis, hyperthyroidism and other high output states, etc. (95,96).

Additional laboratory parameters can reveal concomitant liver and kidney diseases, diabetes and other diseases.

# 2.1.8. Treatment principles

Management of DCM focuses on relieving symptoms and improving quality of life and prognosis. It consists of non-pharmacologic, pharmacologic and surgical treatment (45). Non-pharmacologic treatment involves patient and family education, weight monitoring, dietary restrictions, smoking cessation, alcohol intake reduction, vaccination, physical exercise training and others measures.

### Pharmacological treatment

Drugs used for heart failure treatment can be roughly divided into two groups: those mainly reducing symptoms, and those acting on the neurohormonal system and improving outcomes.

### • Drugs reducing symptoms

✓ Diuretics

Diuretics are useful in relieving symptoms caused by fluid overload (pulmonary congestion, peripheral oedema). There are no randomized, controlled trials that might have shown their benefit in terms of outcome and prognosis. However, the direct aldosterone antagonist spironolactone, which blocks aldosterone salt and water retaining effects, reduces mortality in patients with severe chronic heart failure (42,45,46).

### ✓ Cardiac glycosides

It is thought that digoxin acts by inhibiting sodium-potassium ATPase, thereby increasing intracellular sodium concentration. It results in increased transmembranous sodium-calcium exchange and increased calcium concentration and thereby improved myocardial contractility. Due to its vagomimetic properties it decreases conduction through the atrioventricular and sinoatrial node. It also has direct sympathoinhibitory affect and reduces renin activity. Due to its positive inotropic and negative chronotropic effects digoxin is used to reduce the symptoms of HF and to control the heart rate in patients with supraventricular arrhythmias (42,45,46).

### • Drugs acting on the neurohormonal system

### ✓ Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

Inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system can be achieved by counteracting the angiotensin I conversion to biologically active angiotensine II (angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors) or by inhibiting the action of angiotensin II by blocking AT1 receptors (angiotensin receptor 1 antagonists (ARB)). The weakened action of angiotensin II results in light venodilation, reduced baroreceptor sensitivity, slower break-down of bradicinine, increased excretion of  $H_20$  and sodium and thereby in reduced blood pressure. Nevertheless, suppressed action of local angiotensin II retards left ventricular remodelling or even starts reverse remodelling.

Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors were the first neurohormonal blocking agents with mortality reducing effect in patients with heart failure. They also reduce symptoms and hospitalization of patients with moderate to severe heart failure or left ventricular dysfunction and are recommended as first line therapy for such patients.

Angiotensin receptor 1 antagonists can be used as an alternative in patients who are intolerant of ACE inhibitors. They are as effective as ACE inhibitors in reducing mortality of patients with chronic heart failure. Some studies speak for the advantages of combination therapy with ACE inhibitors and ARBs.

As mentioned above, aldosterone antagonists also improve outcomes if provided for patients with severe heart failure. By blocking aldosterone they increase excretion of  $H_20$  and sodium, and it seems that they also inhibit left ventricular remodelling (42,45,46).

### ✓ Sympathetic nervous system

Beta-adrenoblockers reduce sympathetic activation by reversibly inhibiting beta adrenorecepors. The selective beta-blockers inhibit beta1 adrenoreceptors distributed mainly in the heart, and unselective beta-blockers inhibit also beta2 adrenoreceptors found in vascular and bronchial smooth musculature. Reduced sympathetic activation of the heart results in reduced myocardial contractility and reduced heart rate, and thereby it reduces myocardial oxygen demand. Due to slower heart rate the duration of diastole increases and myocardial oxygen supply ameliorates.

Beta-blockers were once contraindicated for patients with heart failure, because of their negative inotropic and chronotropic action. Later a number of large randomized clinical trials showed that they reduce the mortality and significantly improve the prognosis of these patients. However, not all the drugs in the class have this beneficial effect, and only metoprolol, carvedilol and bisoprolol are highly recommended in heart failure (42,45,46).

### • Others

### ✓ Anticoagulation and antiarrhythmic therapy

Patients with DCM are known to be prone to thromboembolic complications. However, anticoagulation is recommended only for patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. In patients with sinus rhythm the benefit of long-term anticoagulation is controversial.

Although arrhythmias are not rare in patients with DCM, the use of antiarrhythmics does not seem to improve the survival of these patients. In the case of atrial fibrillation heart rate should be controlled, as the sinus rhythm is unlikely to be sustained. In patients with low left ventricular ejection fraction and evidence of non-sustained ventricular tachycardia on ambulatory ECG, implantation of a cardiac defibrillator should be considered (42,45,46).

### ✓ Immunoadsorption

Another rather controversial treatment modality is immunoadsorption. Its principle is the neutralization of circulating autoantibodies found in some patients with DCM. The usual target of immunoadsorption is anti-beta1-adrenergic receptor antibodies, as they are thought to modify beta-adrenergic receptor activity and to produce chronic increases in signal transduction that are harmful to the failing heart (15). Although some studies have

documented the benefit of immunoadsorption, it remains unclear whether it produces longterm benefit. Nevertheless, as mentioned above, the role of circulating autoantibodies in DCM progression has not been elucidated.

### Surgical treatment and devices

As mentioned above, in patients with low left ventricular ejection fraction and evidence of non-sustained ventricular tachycardia on ambulatory ECG, implantation of a cardiac defibrillator should be considered. Implantable cardiac defibrillators are devices recognizing ventricular arrhythmias and delivering shock to terminate them. They are thought to improve the survival by up to 30% (42,45).

In patients with DCM, bundle branch block patterns on ECG are not rare and a wide QRS complex is associated with worse outcomes. Left bundle branch block results in delayed depolarization and contraction of the lateral left ventricular free wall, which is thought to contribute to disease progression. Therefore, in patients with wide QRS complexes, NYHA functional class III-IV and LVEF <35%, cardiac resynchronization therapy might be beneficial in improving functional capacity. It uses specially designed biventricular pacemakers, which pace the right and left ventricle simultaneously, thereby improving patients exercise capacity, quality of life and survival (42,45).

A treatment modality for the patients with end-stage heart failure who do not respond to conservative therapy is heart transplantation. For patients who are listed for heart transplantation but who can not be stabilized on a heart failure regimen including inotropic agents, ventricular assist devices (VAD), automatic pumps taking over the work of heart, have become standard. The first ones ventricular VAD were extracorporeal pulsatile pumps, later intracorporeal pulsatile and intracorporeal continuous flow VADs were developed. A next stage would be a total artificial heart. Approximately 25% to 30% of patients undergoing transplantation are bridged to transplant with a mechanical support device. Approximately 65% to 70% of patients supported with a left ventricular assist device (LVAD) alone survive to undergo transplantation (47).

About a decade ago partial left ventriculotomy, the Batista procedure, was considered to be an alternative to heart transplantation. This ventricular reduction surgery entails the resection of a region of myocardium. The rationale for the procedure is provided by the law of Laplace: a reduction in the overall radius of the left ventricular chamber should serve to decrease wall tension, resulting in an increase of overall efficiency of the heart. In spite of benefit seen in some cases, the mortality after the operation remained high (48). It was demonstrated how improvement in systolic function following partial ventriculectomy is accompanied by worsening diastolic function, resulting in overall impaired cardiac function (49). Concerns arising from these convincing findings have obliterated enthusiasm for the procedure, and it is no longer commonly performed.

Correction of mitral insufficiency can also be performed in order to reduce volume overload resulting from the regurgitant blood, and to increase forward blood flow.

### Heart transplantation as treatment method for DCM

Despite major advances in the treatment of severe myocardial failure, a sizable number of patients with terminal or progressive myocardial dysfunction are fated to die or be severely limited by symptoms. In these patients heart transplantation (HTx) has become standard therapy. Evidence-based immunosuppressive strategies have decreased morbidity and mortality, making survival routine. Most infections and rejections are either preventable or treatable, and the temporary pretransplant use of VADs no longer portends a poor prognosis following transplantation. Although cardiac allograft vasculopathy and malignancy limit long-term survival, 1-, 3-, and 10-year survival rates are 83%, 75%, and 45%, respectively. Thus, heart transplantation is now widely accepted as a modality for prolonging life and improving its quality in carefully selected patients (42).

The current generally accepted indications for heart transplantation include advanced heart failure, New York Heart Association (NYHA) Function Class III-IV, refractory angina, and recurrent life-threatening arrhythmias. HTx should be considered in patients who:

- have severe symptoms despite aggressive and appropriate medical treatment;
- have a poor 1-year and 2-year prognosis;
- are not candidates for other accepted surgical alternatives to transplantation;
- do not have comorbid conditions that could have a negative impact on postoperative recovery and long-term survival (93).

Still, because of the shortage of donor hearts, even following these instructions the waiting time on pre-transplantation list increases dramatically. According to the data of the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (91) the median waiting time for HTx increased from 60 days in 1999 to 308 days in 2004.

In order to give priority to the patients with the highest risk of dying from heart failure Eurotransplant changed the organ allocation system in the year 2000. According to the currently used algorithm a donor heart is first allocated to the critically ill patients listed with high-urgency

status. In order to obtain U status for Eurotransplant listing, idiopathic DCM patients must fulfil one of the following criteria (94):

- continuous intravenous inotropic therapy;
- assist device complications;
- documented intractable recurrent ventricular rhythm disorders;

Approximately 45% patients listed for HTx have cardiomyopathy (92) and a large proportion of them – DCM. While some of them remain stable or even improve during the waiting time, the others deteriorate quickly. Nevertheless it is possible that HTx is sometimes performed too early, the reason for the heart transplantation being just an available donor. Therefore, it is crucial to determine the prognostic predictors, priority, and optimal timing for heart transplantation among patients with severe cardiac failure.

### 2.1.9. Prognostic markers in end-stage DCM

Several potential prognostic markers, including gender, age, sex, etiology, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), transmitral filling E/A wave ratio, E-wave deceleration time (DT), mitral and tricuspid regurgitation, pulmonary wedge pressure (PWP), peak exercise oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>max), levels of plasma norepinephrine, atrial and B-type natriuretic peptides (ANP, BNP), heart fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP), have been widely reported in patients with severe cardiac failure (50-64). However, the predictors of outcomes varied from study to study and in most of them long–term (>24 month) outcomes were chosen.

Now a widely accepted 1-year and 2-year prognostic factor also used as selection criterion for HTx is VO<sub>2</sub>max. It is considered that HF patients who have markedly reduced exercise capacity (VO<sub>2</sub>max <10 ml/kg/min) have poor prognosis and should be listed for HTx, and that patients with good exercise capacity (VO<sub>2</sub>max >18 ml/kg/min) have a good prognosis and do not need transplantation. However, VO<sub>2</sub>max has several limitations, as it is affected not only by cardiac reserve but also by age, gender, muscle mass, deconditioning and pulmonary diseases. Therefore it has to be used in combination with other parameters (93). Numerous studies demonstrated the impact of diastolic dysfunction on long-term clinical prognosis in DCM. Most of them concluded that in HF patients restrictive filling pattern, characterized by high transmitral E wave velocity, low A wave velocity, high E/A ratio and short transmitral E wave deceleration time, is associated with more expressed symptoms, poor prognosis and high mortality (50-54). Werner et al. (51) noted that during the follow-up of DCM patients an increase in A wave velocity and decrease in E/A ratio were associated with clinical improvement, whereas opposite changes were present at the deterioration. Similar data concerning DT were described by Shen et al. (65). Pinamonti et al. (50) further classified patients with restrictive filling pattern at the baseline in two groups with different outcomes: the group where restrictive filling pattern persisted during short–term (3 month) follow-up was associated with higher long–term mortality and worse outcomes than the group where restrictive filling pattern disappeared. On the other hand Rihal et al. (54) demonstrated that in these patients diastolic dysfunction correlated only with congestive symptoms, whereas only systolic variables were the predictors of survival.

Interesting data come from Fauchier et al., who used radionuclide angiography and found that intraventricular, but not interventricular dyssynchrony is an independent long term predictor of cardiac events in DCM patients (34).

Prediction of short-term outcomes in patients with end-stage idiopathic DCM is also of crucial importance. As mentioned above, while some of the patients listed for HTx remain stable or even improve during the waiting time, others deteriorate quickly. As hemodynamic compromise progresses from moderate to severe in a patient waiting heart transplantation, not only the risk of dying before transplantation can be performed increases, but the results after transplantation also worsen. Thus the prediction of short–term outcomes would help to select patients who need more intense follow-up because of expected rapid clinical deterioration and possible need for urgent transplantation or mechanical circulatory support. The latter, started timely, could halt further deterioration, decrease the likelihood of death before transplantation can occur, and reverse metabolic, cellular, and nutritional compromise (47).

Data regarding short-term outcomes of end-stage idiopathic DCM are scarce. Huang et al. demonstrated that transpulmonary resistance (TPR) and cardiac index (CI) have powerful predictive values in terms of 6 and 12 month outcomes in patients with severe heart failure secondary to ischemic or nonischemic DCM (66). However both of these parameters require invasive investigation, and for routine examination less invasive methods would be preferred.

Over the last decade new techniques have emerged, offering new examination possibilities. The information gained using these methods might contribute to the routinely used parameters. One of these new techniques is strain imaging.

# 2.2. Strain imaging

### 2.2.1. Definition

First of all the distinction between motion and deformation should be noted. Displacement and velocity are motion, while strain and strain rate describe deformation. A moving object does not undergo deformation until every part of it moves with the same velocity, which means that its shape remains unchanged.

Strain (S) is a dimensionless parameter measuring the deformation of an object relative to its original shape. It is expressed as the fractional or percent change from the original dimension. The Langrangian formula used to quantify the strain is as follows:

$$S = \frac{L - L_0}{L_0} = \frac{\Delta L}{L_0}$$
(1)

where S is strain,  $L_0$  is the initial length (Lagrangian strain), L is the instantaneous length during contraction (Eulerian or natural strain) and  $\Delta L$  is the absolute change in length. (Fig. 1) Strain rate (SR) is the local rate of deformation or strain per unit time, which equals the velocity difference per length unit:

$$SR = \underline{S} = (\underline{\Delta L / L_0}) = (\underline{\Delta L / \Delta t}) = \underline{\Delta V}$$

$$L_0 \qquad (2)$$

where  $\Delta V$  is the velocity gradient in the segment studied. (67,68)



Figure 1. Langrangian formula used to quantify strain (68)

### 2.2.2. Myocardial strain

The term strain in relation to the heart was first used by Mirsky and Parmley to describe myocardial deformation (69). The heart, like all three dimensional objects, shows strain in three dimensions. In the heart, the usual directions are longitudinal, circumferential and radial/transmural (Fig. 2). As the ventricle contracts, its muscles shorten in the longitudinal and circumferential dimensions (a negative strain) and thickens in the radial dimension (a positive strain). However, the human eye can only evaluate radial thickening and strain imaging techniques offer the possibility to assess myocardial deformation in all three dimensions.



**Figure 2.** Myocardial strain dimensions. T – transverse (radial), L – longitudinal, C – circumferential (68).

Heart muscle is generally considered incompressible, which means that the volume remains constant during the deformation. Thus, radial thickening has to be balanced by longitudinal plus circumferential shortening. As all the strain components are interrelated, one component may be representative of all the regional function (68).

It seems that SR correlates with a rate of change in pressure (dP/dt) and therefore is a parameter reflecting contractility, whereas S is an analog of regional ejection fraction (70). As would be expected, in the heart increasing preload is associated with increasing strain at all levels of wall stress, and increasing afterload is associated with a reduction of strain. SR is thought to be less related to the load conditions (70,71).

Currently myocardial strain and strain rate can be acquired using tissue Doppler imaging (TDI) or speckle tracking techniques.

### 2.2.3. Strain imaging by TDI

The TDI techniques measure the velocity of myocardium relative to the transducer. During the systole the velocity of myocardium displacement increases from the apex to the base, reflecting the contraction of the base toward the relatively fixed apex. This velocity difference along the myocardial wall is defined as velocity gradient. Velocity per length unit equals the strain per time unit or strain rate:

$$VG = \underbrace{(v_2 - v_1)}_{L} = \underbrace{\Delta v}_{\Delta x} = \underbrace{v(x) - v(x + \Delta x)}_{\Delta x} = SR$$
(3)

where VG is velocity gradient and  $\Delta x$  is called the offset distance or the strain length (Fig.3a and b). Thus strain rate by tissue Doppler is calculated from the velocity gradient of two points over a segment with a fixed distance. In the latest software, instead of measuring the velocities at the ends of offset distance, the velocity gradient is calculated by linear regression of all pixel velocities within the  $\Delta x$ .

By integrating the SR values, S values are obtained. With imperfect data, this method tends to make the TDI strain imaging less sensitive to errors in velocity measurements, as the value is an average of more measurements (68).

The main limitations of this method are sensitivity to noises, angle dependency and poor reproducibility (68,71).



**Figure 3a.** Longitudinal velocity gradient by TDI. Where v1 and v2 are two different velocities measuredat two different points. L is the distance between these points. Velocity gradient is given in the formula (3) (68).



**Figure 3b.** Strain rate measured by TDI, as the velocities of a segment with fixed length. *As shown in the formula, both SR (2) and VG (3) formulas result in the same ratio (68).* 

### 2.2.4. Strain imaging by speckle tracking

Speckle tracking is a more recent non-Doppler based method that measures myocardial deformation by tracking speckles in two-dimensional (2D) ultrasonic images. The speckles are highly reproducible ultrasound reflectors within the tissue. Their random distribution ensures that each myocardial segment has a unique pattern, a fingerprint. As the myocardium moves from one frame to another the position of this fingerprint will shift slightly, but the distribution of speckles in it remains fairly constant; thereby it can be identified and followed through the consecutive frames. From the change of the fingerprint position, deformation can be measured (Fig. 4a and b) (68). As from 2D images the baseline length (Langrangian strain) can be acquired, strain values are calculated directly by the Langrangian formula:

$$S = \underline{L - L_0}_{L_0} = \underline{\Delta L}_{L_0}$$
(4)

The advantage of this method is that it tracks speckles in 2 dimensions, along the wall, not along the ultrasonic beam, and therefore is angle independent and gives a true strain. Yet the quality of the measurements might be affected by too low or too high frame rate. Too low frame rate results in excessive displacement of the speckles between the frames, and too high frame rate is associated with high levels of noise. The optimal frame rate for 2D speckle tracking is 50-70 frames per second (FPS) (67,68,71).



**Figure 4a.** Fingerprint displacement . Upper curve demonstrates displacement and lower curve – velocity, obtained by tracking the fingerprint through a whole cardiac cycle (68).



**Picture 4b.** From two fingerprints relative displacement and hence strain and strain rate can be obtained (68).

Non-Doppler strain imaging can be performed offline. It requires only one cardiac cycle, but as already mentioned the images must have high resolution. First of all the myocardial endsystolic frame must be defined in the apical long axis (APLAX) view, where the aortic valve is directly visible. The aortic valve closure (AVC) time is marked, and the time from ECG R wave to AVC is measured. This is used by the software as reference point in the other loops. The mitral valve opening (MVO) is easily seen in any apical view. AVC and MVO together allow accurate timing of systole and diastole.

Within the end-systolic frames an estimation of LV myocardium is traced. The software automatically defines the epicardial and mid-myocardial line and processes them on the loop. Endocardial border is identified by edge detection, based on black-and-white

recognition on the single frame, and myocardium is defined by estimation of thickness. This can be corrected by the investigator if needed. As mentioned above, myocardial deformation and motion are analyzed by identifying fingerprints of speckles and measuring their frame to frame changes. The myocardium is then automatically divided into six segments and the analyzed values within the middle points of these segments are then displayed as traces in specific diagrams, showing different parameters (strain, SR, displacement, velocities) derived from speckle velocities. With the same principle all the standard apical and parasternal views can be analyzed (67).

#### 2.2.5. Parameters

The parameters that can be gained by strain rate imaging can be divided into those relating to timing and magnitude (71). The standard timing parameters are the time to onset of systole and time to relaxation; standard magnitude parameters are peak systolic and diastolic strain rates and peak systolic strain. End-systolic strain is the parameter combining time and magnitude. Calculating the standard deviation of the mean value of time from R to peak systolic strain in different myocardial segments allows the evaluation of systolic dyssynchrony.

The examples of normal strain and strain rate patterns are given in Figures 5 to 10. The images were obtained during personal examinations performed at the German Heart Institute Berlin (Deutsches Herzzentrum Berlin, DHZB).

### **2.2.6.** Clinical applications

• *LV function*. Maximal elastance, based on creating pressure volume loops at various levels of pressure and volume through alteration of preload and afterload, is the gold standard for global assessment of LV function, albeit of limited clinical feasibility (71). Peak and mean SR measured by TDI showed high correlation with elastance, much higher than that of strain or tissue velocity (72). In another study mean systolic SR and mean systolic strain measured by 2D strain imaging both showed high sensitivity and specificity in the detection of LV systolic dysfunction (73). These promising results suggest that in future strain imaging could be used for more precise evaluation of LV function.



**Figure 5.** Normal longitudinal strain pattern. In the color diagram red indicates shortening (negative strain) and blue lengthening (positive strain). Myocardium is divided into six segments, and their strains are displayed in the diagram as colored lines. White dotted line on the diagram represents global strain (mean of segmental strains). In this case: endsystolic strain -23.3%; synchronous systolic function (as peak systolic strain in separate segments occurs at the same time).

• *Myocardial disease*. Numerous studies have elucidated the utility of strain rate imaging in the detection of myocardial diseases even in their subclinical stages, also as myocardial involvement in non-cardiac diseases, such as amyloidosis, diabetic heart disease, beta-thalassemia, Friedriech ataxia and others (74-78). It is also helpful in distinguishing between hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, athelete's heart and hypertrophy caused by hypertension (79,80). Nonetheless, in the case of global disease, where the site specificity of SR is not required, it remains unclear whether SR offers any advantages in comparison to tissue velocity (71).

• *Valvular heart disease*. Recently improvement in myocardial strain and SR values after percutaneus aortic replacement was reported (81). Also it is being suggested that subclinical myocardial dysfunction revealed by SR imaging might help to decide about the timing for surgical intervention (82).



**Figure 6.** Normal longitudinal strain rate pattern. Colored lines indicate segmental strain rates and a dotted line global strain rate. In this case: peak systolic strain rate - 1.1/s, diastolic SR E - 1.2/s, diastolic SR A - 1.1/s.

• *Diastolic dysfunction*. Current evaluation of diastolic function is based on the analysis of the load dependent transmitral flow, and a direct parameter showing the stiffness of myocardium would be of great value. Such a parameter could be the diastolic strain and strain rate. Yet although some studies have used strain imaging for the evaluation of diastolic function (85,86), its value remains unclear.

• *Stress echocardiography and detection of ischemia.* Numerous studies have been performed using strain imaging to assess the myocardial response to stress and to evaluate stunned, acutely ischemic myocardium or myocardial infarct. Myocardial viability is usually assessed by the changes in systolic and diastolic SR, time to relaxation and degree of post systolic thickening (71). It was validated in several studies. In one of them myocardial viability was assessed by positron emission tomography (83), and in another study the recovery of segmental function after revascularization was used to assess the viability (84). They both defined certain cut-off values of SR increment for the prediction of viability and documented that SRI was more accurate than TVI.



**Figure 7.** Normal circumferential strain pattern. In the color diagram red indicates shortening (negative strain) and blue lengthening (positive strain). In this case: global ESS - 27.1%, synchronous systolic function (as peak systolic strain in separate segments occurs at the same time); clearly seen early and late diastolic phases.



**Figure 8.** Normal circumferential strain rate pattern. Colored lines indicate segmental strain rates, a dotted line global strain rate. In this case: peak systolic strain rate -1.9 /s, diastolic SR E - 2.5 /s, diastolic SR A - 0.7 /s.



**Figure 9.** Normal radial strain pattern. In the color diagram red indicates thickening (positive strain), blue thinning (negative strain). In this case: global ESS - 38.7 %, synchronous systolic function (as peak systolic strain in separate segments occurs at the same time).



**Figure 10.** *Normal radial strain rate pattern.* Colored lines indicate segmental strain rates, dotted line global strain rate. In this case: peak systolic strain rate -1.6 /s.

• *Right ventricular function*. The evaluation of right ventricular function with SR imaging, although feasible, remains challenging. For TDI strain measurements RV wall is too thin to permit adequate regression line, and 2D strain is not defined yet for RV evaluation (71).

Clearly strain rate imaging is a very promising technique, opening up new possibilities in diagnostics and in understanding the pathologic mechanisms of diseases. However, no consensus about its clinical application has been found yet and ongoing research is required to clarify the true value of this method (71).

# 3. Study

# 3.1. Objective

The aim of this study was to find echocardiographic short-term prognostic factors of idiopathic DCM course and to investigate whether if the synchronicity of left ventricular systolic function influences the clinical stability of these patients.

# 3.2. Methods

## 3.2.1. Patient selection and study design

As stated above, dilated phenotype can be caused by various etiologic factors, which might result in significant differences in prognosis, echocardiographic features etc. Therefore, to obtain as homogenous group as possible, we considered only patients with idiopathic DCM for our study, and excluded those with clear etiologic factors. Thus, patients with previous myocardial infarction, specific myocardial diseases, acute myocarditis during the last months, valvular heart disease or *cor pulmonale* were excluded from the study.



Figure 11. Outcome of patients referred for HTx

Finally 38 consecutive stable patients with idiopathic DCM referred for HTx in the years 2006 and 2007 were included in the study. The inclusion criteria were: left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) <30%, left ventricular enddiastolic diameter (LVEDD) >55mm, coronarography without relevant stenosis of any of the main coronary arteries and no need for inotropic cardiac support.

At the baseline all of the patients underwent transthoracic echocardiography, during which also the images for off-line 2D strain imaging were stored. Exercise testing for evaluation of peak oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>max) was performed in all patients and NT-proBNP values were also measured on the same day.

After six months the patients were grouped into the two arms according to whether their clinical status had remained stable or deteriorated.

### 3.2.2. Echocardiographic examination and strain imaging

During transthoracic echocardiography standard parameters such as left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), left ventricular enddiastolic and endsystolic diameters (LVEDD, LVESD), left atrial diameter (LAD), left ventricular enddiastolic volume (LVEDV), transmitral E/A-wave ratio and E-wave deceleration time (DT) and others were obtained.

To evaluate the heterogeneity and synchronity of left ventricular function 2D strain imaging was chosen, because it is more reliable (higher reproducibility), easy to perform and less time consuming in comparison to TDI derived strain imaging. In each patient we stored echocardiographic loops obtained from short-axis views at the level of the mitral valve (SAX-MV) as well as apical long-axis (APLAX), four-chamber (4CH) and two-chamber (2CH) views for off-line strain imaging. The inner endocardial border was traced manually. The software provided high quality of strain and strain rate analysis by rejecting all echocardiographic images and manual tracings of insufficient quality. After this controlling radial, circumferential and longitudinal strain and strain rate measurements were performed to acquire global endsystolic strains (ESS) and maximal systolic strain rate (SSR<sub>max</sub>). For evaluation of diastolic function diastolic strain rate during the passive ventricular filling (DSR<sub>E</sub>) and diastolic strain rate during ventricular filling due to atrial contraction (DSR<sub>A</sub>) were measured and their ratio (DSR<sub>E/A</sub>) was calculated.

The coefficient of variance, which is the ratio of standard deviation and the mean, was used to quantify intraventricular dyssynchrony and dyssynergy. Thus the coefficient of variance of time interval between the beginning of QRS complex and peak systolic strain of each segment was considered dyssynchrony index.

$$IVDS = \frac{SD(t_{PSS})}{M(t_{PSS})}$$

where IVDS = intraventricular dyssyynchrony,  $t_{PSS}$  = time to peak systolic strain, SD = standard deviation and M = mean value.

Similarly the coefficient of variance of ESS at each segment was used for estimation of endsystolic dyssynergy.

$$ESDSn = \frac{SD(ESS)}{M(ESS)}$$

where ESDSn = endsystolic intraventricular dyssynergy, ESS = endsystolic strain, SD = standard deviation and M = mean value.

The examples of strain and strain rate patterns in DCM are given in the Figures 12-16. The images were obtained during personal examinations performed at the German Heart Institute Berlin (Deutsches Herzzentrum Berlin, DHZB) on patients included in the study.

### **3.2.3. Statistical analysis**

For statistical analysis SPSS version 11.5 was used. All data are reported as mean value  $\pm 1$  standard deviation (SD). Comparisons between the groups were made using the Mann-Whitney U test or Fisher exact test. Differences were considered significant at p < 0.05 (two-sided). Correlations between the variables were calculated using the Pearson method. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves and odds ratios were obtained to evaluate the discriminatory value of different parameters in order to test their prognostic accuracy in prediction of rapid HF deterioration. Sensitivity, specificity and negative and positive predictive values were calculated for the chosen cut-off values of these parameters.



**Figure 12.** *Abnormal longitudinal strain pattern in a patient with severe IDCM. Reduced endsystolic strain (-7.1%). Relevant systolic dyssynchrony (white arrows indicate segmental peak systolic strain occurring not at the same time).* 



**Figure 13.** *Abnormal longitudinal strain rate pattern. Very low peak systolic strain rate (-0.48 /s); diastolic strain rate* E > A, also note differences between segmental SR,



**Figure 14.** *Abnormal circumferential strain pattern. Low ESS (-9.3%), systolic dyssynchrony (segmental peak systolic strains occur not at the same time), systolic dyssynergy (note differences between segmental ESS).* 



**Figure 15**. *Abnormal circumferntial strain rate pattern.* Low peak systolic strain rate (-0.48 /s);, also note differences between segmental SR.

# 3.3. Results

# 3.3.1. Study group characteristics

During the first 6 months after inclusion in the study, 18 patients (47%) remained stable; the other 20 showed severe cardiac deterioration. Fourteen of them (70%) underwent ventricular assist device implantation and six (30%) – died from progressing HF.

In the group of stable patients the mean age was  $48\pm10$  years and in the group of unstable patients  $50\pm13$  years. The distribution of NYHA classes, concomitant diseases, immunadsorbtion and cardiac resynchronization therapy did not significantly differ between the groups and is outlined in table 1. Some of the data is also depicted in figures 17-20.

Peak oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>max) also did not show significant differences between the groups at the baseline. However, the unstable group had significantly higher NT-proBNP values (table 1).



**Figure 16.** *Abnormal radial strain pattern. Low global ESS (15.2 %), synchronous systolic function (peak segmental systolic SR), systolic dyssynergy (note segmental ESS differences).* 

	Stable patients	Unstable patients	Р
Women / men	1 (6%) / 17 (92%)	2 (10%) / 18 (90%)	0.2
Age, years (mean±SD)	48±10	50±13	0.71
Atrial fibrillation	6 (33%)	7 (35%)	0.9
Secondary pulmonary hypertension	5 (28%)	6 (30%)	0.88
Diabetes mellitus	5 (28%)	8 (40%)	0.43
Hyperlipidemia	11 (61%)	6 (30%)	0.19
Compensated renal insufficiency	5 (28%)	7 (35%)	0.43
Nicotine abuse	4 (22%)	3 (15%)	0.57
Immunoadsorption	14 (78%)	11 (55%)	0.51
Cardiac resynchronization	5 (28%)	4 (20%)	0.38
NYHA (II / III),	11 (61%) / 7 (39%)	10 (50%)/ 10 (50%)	0.32
VO <sub>2</sub> max, ml/kg/min	15.3±5.9	11.6±6.02	0.11
NT-proBNP*, pg/ml	1950±2555	6058±6547	0.019

 Table 1. Baseline study group characteristics

\* shows a statistically significant difference between the groups



**Figure 17.** *Distribution of secondary pulmonary hypertension. PHT – pulmonary hypertension, pts – patients.* 



**Figure 18.** *Age distribution between the groups pts – patients* 



**Figure 19.** *Distribution of atrial fibrillation. AF – atrial fibrillation, pts – patients.* 



Figure 20. Distribution of NYHA classes. Pts - patients

### 3.3.2. Systolic standard echocardiographic parameters

All of the patients included in the study had a very low LV ejection fraction (<30%), which did not differ between the groups. Other standard echocardiograhic parameters for systolic function also did not show any significant differences (table 2). Left ventricular dimensions and diastolic volume were even slightly higher in the group of stable patients, but not significantly. No differences were observed in LV longitudinal and transverse axis relation. However, stable patients tended to have higher stroke volumes and smaller left atria, but also not significantly.

### 3.3.3. Systolic 2D strain imaging parameters

Stable patients appeared to have significantly higher global longitudinal endsystolic strains (ESS), and peak systolic strain rates (SSR<sub>max</sub>) in comparison to unstable patients: longitudinal ESS -7.2 $\pm$ 3.5% vs. -4.9 $\pm$ 2.4% (p<0.05) and longitudinal SSR<sub>max</sub> -0.44 $\pm$ 0.13s<sup>-1</sup> vs. -0.34 $\pm$ 0.1s<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Radial and circumferential ESS and SSR<sub>max</sub> were also higher in the group of stable patients, but the differences were not significant (table 3). Moreover it was noticed that unstable patients in comparison to stable patients had more marked radial, circumferential and longitudinal systolic dyssynergy between the separate myocardial segments. However the differences did not reach statistical significance.

Parameter	Stable patients	Unstable patients	Р
LVEF, %	22.1±3.8	19.6±5.4	0.32
LVEDD, mm	73.3±13.5	71.4±9.2	0.63
LVESD, mm	65±7.2	60.5±13.7	0.27
LVEDV, ml	287±99	270±74	0.59
SV, ml	63.1±13	54.4±17.3	0.22
LV axis relation	1.27±0.17	1.29±0.12	0.58
LA, mm	40.2±13.8	45.8±7	0.21
MI (0 / I / II / III)	5 (28%) / 9 (50%) /	4 (20%) / 10 (50%) /	0.72
	4 (22%) / 0	3 (15%) / 1 (5%)	

 Table 2. Baseline values of standard ehocardiographic systolic parameters

 Table 3. Baseline values of strain imaging derived systolic parameters

Parameter	Stable patients	Unstable patients	Р
Radial ESS, %	12.6±8.9	8,2±5.5	0.085
Radial SSR <sub>max</sub> , s <sup>-1</sup>	0.68±0.35	0.52±0.21	0.1
Circumferential ESS, %	-7.3±3.5	-5.8±1.7	0.14
Circumferential SSR <sub>max</sub> , s <sup>-1</sup>	-0.49±0.22	-0.43±0.11	0.29
Longitudinal ESS,* %	-7.2±3.5	-4.9±2.4	0.028
Longitudinal SSR <sub>max</sub> ,* s <sup>-1</sup>	-0.44±0.13	-0.34±0.1	0.018

\* shows a statistically significant difference between the groups

# 3.3.4. Synchronicity of LV systolic function

Intraventricular systolic circumferential and longitudinal dyssynchrony indexes were found to be significantly higher in patients who tended to deteriorate in the near future than in those who remained stable over the next 6 months ( $0.24\pm0.13$  vs.  $0.16\pm0.05$  (p<0.05) and  $0.36\pm0.18$  vs.  $0.22\pm0.08$  (p<0.005), respectively). The synchronicity of intraventricular

radial systolic thickening was also more altered in the group of unstable patients, but the difference was not statistically significant (table 4, figure 21).

Parameter	Stable patients	Unstable patients	Р
Radial dyssynchrony index	0.14±0.06	0.17±0.11	0.27
Circumferential dyssynchrony index*	0.16±0.05	0.24±0.13	0.034
Longitudinal dyssynchrony index *	0.22±0.08	0.36±0.18	0.004

 Table 4. Baseline values of strain imaging derived synchronity indexes.

\*shows a statistically significant difference between the groups



Figure 21. Boxplot representing radial, circumferential and longitudinal systolic dyssynchrony differences between the groups. Pts – patients.

### 3.3.5. Diastolic standard echocardiographic and 2D strain imaging parameters

At the baseline the patients who remained stable had less altered diastolic function in comparison to those with rapid HF progression: transmitral E/A-wave ratio  $1.3\pm1$  vs.  $2.9\pm1.3$ 

(p<0.005), E-wave deceleration time (DT) 139 $\pm$ 34.5ms vs. 103 $\pm$ 22.4ms (p<0.01). Better diastolic function in these patients was also shown by parameters derived from strain imaging: strain rate during late diastolic ventricular filling (DSR<sub>A</sub>) 0.42 $\pm$ 0.13s<sup>-1</sup> vs. 0.19 $\pm$ 0.12s<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.001), DSR<sub>E/A</sub> 1.4 $\pm$ 0.9 vs. 3.5 $\pm$ 2.5 (p<0.005). Strain rate during early diastolic filling (DSR<sub>E</sub>) did not differ between the groups (Table 5, figures 22-24). Diastolic function was not evaluated for the patients with chronic fibrillation.

Parameter	Stable patients	Unstable patients	Р
VE,* m/s	0.65±0.24	0.96±0.32	0.015
VA,* m/s	0.74±0.73	0.37±0.15	0.014
EA*	1.3±1.1	3±1.3	0.002
DT*, ms	139±34.5	102.7±22.4	0.004
$DSR_E, s^{-1}$	0.53±0.27	0.47±0.21	0.516
$DSR_A, * s^{-1}$	0.42±0.14	0.19±0.12	0.000
DSR <sub>E/A</sub> ,*	1.34±0.86	3.45±2.4	0.004

 Table 5. Baseline values of diastolic paramters.

\* shows a statistically significant difference between the groups

### **3.3.6.** Correlation with other prognostic markers

Standard echocardiographic and strain imaging parameters, that showed differences between the two groups were further analyzed. We evaluated the correlations between them and NTproBNP, which is routinely used to reflect the severity and prognosis of heart failure. Logarithmic transformation of NT-proBNP values was performed to obtain the normal distribution of data.

Highly significant correlations are listed in table 6. The strongest correlations were observed between NT-proBNP and diastolic parameters, especially diastolic SR (DSR<sub>A</sub>), VE and E/A (figures 25-26). None of the standard echocardiographic parameters depicting systole correlated with NT-proBNP. Longitudinal ESS, systolic SR and longitudinal dyssynchrony index appeared to have moderate correlation with NT-proBNP. However, circumferential and radial strain parameters did not show any significant correlation with this marker.

No correlations were observed between any of these parameters and VO<sub>2</sub>max.



#### Figure 22. Diastolic flow Doppler parameters.

Boxplot representing differences in diastolic transmitral flow velocities between the groups Pts - patients, VE - E wave velocity, VA - A wave velocity.



**Figure 23.** *Boxplot representing diastolic strain rate differences between the groups. Pts – patients, SR – strain rate, DSRE - diastolic strain rate E wave, DSRA – diastolic strain rate A wave.* 



**Figure 24.** *Boxplot representing differences of diastolic filling patterns between the groups. Pts – patients, DSRE/A - diastolic strain rate E wave.* 



**Figure 25.** *Negative correlation between NT-proBNP and diastolic SR A wave. NT-proBNP – N-terminal-pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, DSRA – diastolic strain rate A wave.* 



**Figure 26.** *Positive correlation between NT-proBNP and diastolic E wave velocity. NT-proBNP – N-terminal-pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, DSRA – diastolic strain rate A wave.* 

Parameter	r	Р
VE	0.69	<0.01
E/A	0.68	<0.01
DSR <sub>A</sub>	-0.73	<0.01
DSR <sub>E/A</sub>	0.39	<0.05
Longitudinal ESS	0.46	<0.01
Longitudinal SR	0.38	<0.05
Longitudinal dyssynchrony index	0.34	<0.05

 Table 6. Significant correlations between NT-proBNP and echocardiographic parameters.

### **3.3.7.** Predictive value

The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for certain parameters were obtained to test their accuracy in the prediction of rapid clinical deterioration in patients with end-stage idiopathic DCM (Figure 27). Sensitivity, specificity and positive and negative predictive values were calculated for the chosen cut-off points (Table 5). As flow Doppler E wave and late diastolic SR (DSR<sub>A</sub>) showed very high significant differences between the groups and strongest correlations with NT-proBNP, their ratio was also tested as a new parameter for HF progression. The highest predictive values for rapid clinical deterioration had E-wave DT<100ms,  $DSR_A<0.3s^{-1}$ ,  $DSR_{E/A}>2$  and  $VE/DSR_A>2$  (88%, 89%, 85% and 83% respectively).



Α

**Figure 27.** *Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curves for prediction of rapid clinical deterioration in patients with end-stage idiopathic DCM.* The high values for the areas under the curves (AUC) indicate the value of circumferential and longitudinal dyssynchronies (A) and diastolic parameters (B and C) in identifying the patients with possible rapid deterioration.



В

1 - Specificity





Figure 27 (continued)

Parameters	Cut-off	PPV	NPV	Sensitivity	Specificity
Circumferential dyssynchrony	>0.16	68%	73%	83%	53%
Longitudinal dyssynchrony	>0.22	68%	68%	75%	61%
E/A	>1.5	79%	91%	78%	91%
DT, ms	<100	88%	59%	91%	50%
DSR <sub>A</sub> , s <sup>-1</sup>	<0.3	89%	90%	94%	83%
DSR <sub>E/A</sub>	>2	85%	63%	65%	83%
VE/DSR <sub>A</sub>	>2	83%	90%	82%	91%

Table 7. Sensitivity, specificity and positive and negative predictive values of certain parameters

*PPV – positive predictive value, NPV – negative predictive value* 

In addition the risk of clinical deterioration was evaluated by calculating the odds ratios for the same cut-off values. All the above mentioned parameters had odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals above 1, which indicates their value in risk prediction. Yet some of them had very wide confidence intervals. The narrowest confidence intervals had odds ratios calculated for strain parameters. These are outlined in the table 8.

Table 8. Odds ratios of certain parameters.

		95% CI	
	Odds ratio	Lower	Upper
$\mathbf{DSR}_{\mathrm{A}} \leq 0, 3  \mathrm{s}^{-1}$	22.5	3.1	161.5
$DSR_{E/A} \ge 2$	9.2	1.5	56.3
Circ.dyssynchrony ≥ 0,16	5.7	1.2	28.4
Long.dyssynchrony ≥ 0,16	4.7	1.2	18.9

# 3.4. Discussion

#### **3.4.1.** Short–term prognosis in patients with end-stage idiopathic DCM

The intention of our study was to find simple short-term prognostic factors of idiopathic DCM course. Although several studies have identified prognostic markers in patients with DCM, the discriminatory power of these classic parameters (etiology, duration of disease, LV ejection fraction, NYHA functional class, ventricular tachycardia, cardiothoracic ratio, systolic blood pressure, pulmonary vascular resistance and others) appeared to be less accurate in patients with severe end-stage heart failure. Moreover there are only few data concerning short-term predictors in end-stage DCM.

Huang et al. reported total pulmonary vascular resistance and cardiac index to be predictors of short-term outcomes in patients with non-ischemic DCM (66). Yet these parameters require invasive procedures, and therefore are not very suitable for clinical routine.

Our study group was restricted to symptomatic patients accepted for transplantation with very low LVEF ( $\leq$  30%) and potentially worst prognosis at the baseline, which made it different from the other studies mostly investigating patients with higher LVEF, better LV function and more favorable prognosis.

The results show that such a highly available non-invasive method as echocardiography might be a useful tool in evaluating short term prognosis of end-stage DCM patients. Besides the standard flow Doppler parameters E/A and DT, the strain imaging parameters DSR<sub>A</sub> and DSR<sub>E/A</sub> appeared to have high sensitivity and predictive values for clinical deterioration. Circumferential and longitudinal dyssynchrony also seem to contribute to clinical instability. Although in comparison to diastolic parameters they have lower sensitivity and specificity, the 95% CI of their odds ratios are above 1, which shows their prognostic relevance. Our data suggest that these parameters could significantly contribute to the routine follow-up of end-stage DCM patients. Their value in reflecting prognosis of HF is also supported by the significant correlation with NT-proBNP. However, although NT-proBNP tests are highly available and simple to perform, they have some major limitations. First of all it should not be forgotten that although normal NT-proBNP values show good LV function, high values do not necessarily show severe HF. Apart from cardiac causes, NT-proBNP elevation may be caused by renal dysfunction, pulmonary diseases, pulmonary embolism, sepsis, hyperthyroidism, liver cirrhosis, other high output states, etc. (95, 96). This would not be a problem of echocardiography including strain imaging. We did not see any correlations

between these echocardiographic parameters and  $VO_2max$ , but this most probably shows the inaccuracy of  $VO_2max$ , as it depends on many other factors, such as muscle mass, age, gender, deconditioning of the patient and pulmonary diseases.

### **3.4.2.** Diastolic dysfunction

We found that diastolic dysfunction is a valuable predictor of short-term outcomes in endstage DCM patients. The patients with deterioration in our study had at the baseline more expressed restrictive filling patterns measured by pulsed Doppler and by strain rate imaging, a shorter transmitral E-wave deceleration time and also slower myocardial strain rate during late diastolic filling (DSR<sub>A</sub>). At certain cut-off values these parameters were highly predictive for short-term clinical deterioration, and their odds ratios for clinical deterioration were above 1. Furthermore DSR<sub>A</sub>, VE and E/A showed strong correlations with NTproBNP, which is known to reflect the severity and prognosis of heart failure (95,96). We tried to construct the new parameter combining flow Doppler VE and strain imaging DSR<sub>A</sub>, as both of these parameters differed significantly between the two groups and showed strong correlations with NT-proBNP. The new VE/DSR<sub>A</sub> also appeared to have high sensitivity and positive predictive value for fast clinical deterioration in end-stage idiopathic DCM. However it remains unclear whether this provides any additional information.

Our results correspond in part with those of other studies, which have concluded that short transmitral E wave deceleration time and persisting restrictive left ventricular filling pattern are associated with worse clinical course and high mortality in HF patients (50-53). However, in most of them-long term (>24 month) outcomes were chosen.

It is known that early ventricular diastolic filling is determined mainly by the pressure gradient between the ventricle and the atrium, which depends on ventricular relaxation and atrial diastolic pressure (87). At the baseline of our study patients in the unstable group had higher transmitral E wave velocities (VE) and shorter E wave deceleration times (DT) in comparison to the patients who remained stable, and yet  $DSR_E$  in the two groups did not differ. Assuming that diastolic SR reflects diastolic deformation or lengthening of myocardium, and flow Doppler parameters describe transmitral flow, it appears that in patients susceptible to clinical deterioration LV restrictive filling patterns result from the increasing pressure gradient between LV and left atrium, without further deterioration of LV relaxation.

Late diastolic filling occurs due to atrial contraction, and ventricular compliance plays an important role here (87). DSR<sub>A</sub>, while showing myocardial lengthening during late diastolic filling, reflects myocardial compliance. Thus, significant differences in DSR<sub>A</sub> between the stable and clinically deteriorated patients in our group support the importance of myocardial compliance for the clinical course of DCM.

In healthy persons myocardial compliance also contributes the ventricular systolic function, as according to the Frank-Starling law the contraction force depends on the initial length of each sarcomere. It is clear that the more the sarcomere is stretched during diastole, the more bindings between actin and myosin complexes occur and therefore contraction becomes stronger (87). In a dilated ventricle this should be of less importance, as the sarcomeres are overstretched. However, worsening myocardial compliance decreases LV filling and thereby leads to a decrease in cardiac output and increase in left atrial and later pulmonary and right ventricular pressures.

### 3.4.3. Dyssynergy and dyssynchrony of left ventricular systolic function

It appears that in end-stage HF longitudinal systolic shortening might be of crucial importance for the heart pump function. On the other hand longitudinal function might be the last one to be affected in the dilated left ventricle. We analyzed separately systolic radial, circumferential and longitudinal strains to evaluate the heterogeneity of ventricular function. As expected, at the baseline the patients who tended to deteriorate in the following months had lower SSR<sub>max</sub> and global ESS values, and also as more marked differences in endsystolic strains in separate segments. However, only the differences between longitudinal global ESS and SSR<sub>max</sub> values were statistically significant. Besides that, only longitudinal, and not circumferential or radial systolic strain values correlated with NT-proBNP values.

It also seems that the poor synchronity of both longitudinal and circumferential shortening might play a role in rapid progression of heart insufficiency, as the peak systolic strain occurring not at the same time in separate myocardial segments leads to higher energy demand needed to develop adequate pressure in the ventricle to open the aortic valve. In our study we found that the patients who tended to deteriorate in the following months had at the baseline more expressed circumferential and longitudinal, but not radial dyssynchrony in comparison to the patients who remained stable. These two parameters might also be used as

risk factors, as their prognostic significance is reflected by the area under curve on ROC curves and odds ratios above 1.

The substantial contribution of longitudinal and circumferential motion to the systolic function of left ventricle was also documented by Bogaert and Rademakers, who performed strain analysis in healthy adults using MRI (88). Recently some other studies have also been published demonstrating that left ventricular wall motion is not always diffusely hypokinetic and that regional heterogeneity of left ventricular function is frequently present (31-38, 89,90). Julliere et al. found thallium-201 myocardial perfusion anomalies in IDCM patients which they associated with the heterogeneity of left ventricular function and wall stress (33). Bach et al. compared the heterogeneity of left ventricular function in normal subjects and IDCM patients and correlated it with myocardial oxidative metabolism. They concluded that myocardial segments with higher regional oxidative metabolism have better contractile function (40). Thereby the more hypokinetic segments the ventricle has, the more limited is its energy reserve.

Concerning the synchronicity of left ventricular systolic function, it was documented that patients with HF had more expressed intraventricular dyssynchrony than normal subjects (32,40) which did not correlate with the QRS complex duration (37). Fauchier et al. found that intraventricular dyssynchrony evaluated by radionuclide angiography, but not interventricular is an independent long-term predictor of cardiac events in DCM patients (34). The data of Takemoto et al. also speak for the role of intraventricular dyssynchrony in idiopathic DCM. They found, that in these patients beta-blocker therapy, whose efficacy for HF treatment is well proved, diminished the intraventricular segmental dyssynchrony (39). Yet to our knowledge the impact of ventricular systolic synchronicity on the clinical stability of idiopathic DCM patients has never been tested.

This systolic heterogeneity and dyssynchrony of failing myocardium do not seem surprising in view of all the complex changes occurring at the myocyte, myocardial and ventricular levels. All these changes, and especially myocyte loss, excessive fibrosis and extracellular matrix degradation, might also result in the loss of normal fiber arrangement in myocardium, and the latter is significant for the complex adaptations related to optimal energy transfer from myocardium to the blood in the normal heart (97). It is obvious that abnormal fiber orientation can contribute to the loss of synchronicity and homogeneity of systolic function. Consequently the severity of ventricular heterogeneity and dyssynchrony should reflect the extent of the pathologic changes in myocardium, and thereby predict the further short-term clinical course.

### 3.4.4. The role of strain imaging in predicting short term clinical deterioration

It is clear that strain imaging offers new possibilities in the evaluation of patients with idiopathic DCM. Systolic intraventricular dyssynchrony and diastolic strain imaging parameters, such as  $DSR_A$  and  $DSR_{E/A}$ , as well as flow Doppler and strain imaging VE/DSR<sub>A</sub> appear to be valuable risk factors, predicting possible rapid clinical deterioration. Even though their prognostic value is just slightly higher than that of flow Doppler derived E/A and DT, they can contribute a lot to the clinical examination of individual patient.

A number of conditions, such as atrial fibrillation, severe mitral regurgitation and pacemaker rhythm, are known to make diastolic flow Doppler parameters imprecise. However, this might not have relevant influence on strain imaging. Thus as a next step we are planning a study to analyze its prognostic value in these situations.

It should not be forgotten that HF syndrome is very complex, and there cannot be one universal criterion suitable for decision making. Before making a decision concerning an individual patient, physicians should consider all the pathophysiological processes taking place because of the disease. Exactly here strain imaging might be very useful: it enables evaluation of pathological processes, which play an important role in the progression of HF, but cannot be analyzed with any other technique. Moreover, the method is non-invasive, easy to perform, not time consuming and well reproducible.

# 3.5. Conclusion

In idiopathic DCM patients with similar LVEF (<30%), further cardiac stability appeared to be related to the severity of alterations in LV systolic synchronicity and diastolic function. The high predictive values of transmitral flow Doppler and 2D-strain parameters for the short-term (<6 month) course of HF recommend echocardiography as a valuable tool for the guidance of HTx-listing decisions, which could add to such widely used parameters as natriuretic peptides or peak oxygen consumption. Adding strain imaging to routine follow-up would make the approach to the individual patient more comprehensive, and thereby patient selection for more intense follow-up or even for HU listing or VAD implantation would become more precise.

# 4. Summary

In the light of continuous prolongation of the waiting time on heart transplantation (HTx) lists, the need for reliable predictors of the time course of heart failure (HF) has become increasingly important. Thus, the aim of our study was to evaluate the prognostic value of echocardiography including 2D strain imaging in patients with end-stage idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy (IDCM).

The study population comprised 38 consecutive stable IDCM patients referred for HTx. At the baseline all of them underwent standard echocardiography, during which views for radial, circumferential and longitudinal strain and strain rate measurements were stored. Strain imaging was used to acquire radial, circumferential and longitudinal endsystolic strains (ESS), peak systolic strain rates (SSR<sub>max</sub>), as well as early and late diastolic strain rate (DSR<sub>E</sub> and DSR<sub>A</sub>, respectively). Dyssynchrony indexes were also calculated from strain images. For quantification of systolic intraventricular dyssynchrony the coefficient of variance of time interval from the beginning of QRS complex to peak systolic strain at separate segments was used. Echocardiographic parameters were analyzed to find significant differences between the groups. Their value in predicting the time course of HF during the following 6 months was tested.

During the first 6 months after inclusion in the study, 18 patients remained stable; the other 20 showed severe cardiac deterioration and finally 14 of them underwent ventricular assist implantation and 6 died, although initially there were no significant differences in peak oxygen consumption, left ventricular size, ejection fraction or other parameters describing systolic function. However, at the baseline, patients who remained stable had lower NT-proBNP values and less altered diastolic function in comparison to those with rapid HF progression. Thus, stable patients had significantly lower flow Doppler and strain imaging derived E/A ratios, longer transmitral E wave deceleration time and higher late diastolic strain rate (DSR<sub>A</sub>) values). They also had significantly lower systolic strain and strain rate values. Diastolic parameters correlated strongly with NT-proBNP, which is known to be elevated in patients with HF, whereas systolic dyssynchrony indexes showed moderate correlations with this marker. No correlations between peak oxygen consumption and echocardiographic parameters were observed.

At certain cut-off values flow Doppler and strain imaging derived diastolic parameters, as well as systolic dyssynchrony indexes showed high predictive values for cardiac stability over the next 6 months. Highest positive predictive values for rapid HF progression were found for transmitral E decelaration time (DT) <100ms, late diastolic strain rate (DSR<sub>A</sub>) <0.3/s and strain imaging derived E/A ratio (DSR<sub>E/A</sub>) >2 (88%, 89% and 85%, respectively). The index obtained by combining flow Doppler and strain imaging (VE/DSR<sub>A</sub>) was also tested, and its value, which was >2, had a predictive value for rapid HF progression of 83%. Thus in patients with advanced idiopathic DCM and similar LVEF (<30%), further cardiac stability appeared to be related to the severity of alterations in LV systolic synchronicity and diastolic function. Transmitral flow Doppler and strain imaging parameters can be recommended as short-term prognostic factors in these patients. Moreover, strain imaging is a very useful method, as it allows a better understanding of HF pathophysiology and throws light on the progress of this syndrome in individual patients. This extensive approach to the problem is essential while making decisions of vital importance, such as patient listing for high-urgency Tx.

# 5. Abbreviations

- 2D two dimensional
- 2CH-two-chamber
- 4CH four-chamber
- ACE angiotensin converting enzyme
- ANP atrial natriuretic peptide
- ANS adrenergic nervous system
- APLAX apical long axis
- ARB angiotensin receptor 1 blockers
- AT1 angiotensin receptor 1
- ATP adenosintriphosphate
- AVC aortic valve closure
- BNP brain (B-type) natriuretic peptide
- CI cardiac index
- DCM -dilated cardiomyopathy
- DSR<sub>E</sub> diastolic strain rate E wave
- DSRA-diastolic strain rate A wave
- DSR<sub>E/A</sub> diastolic strain rate E and A wave ratio
- DT E-wave deceleration time
- E/A VE and VA ratio
- ECG electrocardiography
- ESS global endsystolic strain
- HF heart failure
- HLA human leukocyte antigens
- HTx -heart transplantation
- ISFC international society and federation of cardiology
- LAD left atrial diameter
- LV left ventricle
- LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction
- LVEDD left ventricular enddiastolic diameter
- LVEDV left ventricular enddiastolic volume
- LVESD left ventricular endsystolic diameter
- MCS mechanical circulatory support

MI - myocardial infarction MMP – metalloproteinase MVO – mitral valve opening NYHA – New York Heart Association NT-proBNP - N-terminal proBNP PGE – prostaglandin E PWP - pulmonary wedge pressure RAS - renin-angiotensin system RV – right ventricle S – strain SAX-MV – short-axis mitral view SR – strain rate SSR<sub>max</sub> - maximal systolic strain rate TDI – tissue Dopper imaging TNF - tumor necrosis factor TPR – transpulmonary resistance VE – E wave velocity VA – A wave velocity VAD - ventricular assist devices VO<sub>2</sub>max – peak exercise oxygen consumption

WHO – World Health Organization

### 6. References

- Richardson P, McKenna W, Bristow M, et al. Report of the 1995 World Health Organization/International Society and Federation of Cardiology Task Force on the definition and classification of cardiomyopathies. *Circulation*. Mar 1 1996;93(5):841-2.
- Boffa GM, Thiene G, Nava A, Dalla Volta S. Cardiomyopathy: a necessary revision of the WHO classification. *Int J Cardiol*. 1991;30(1):1-7.
- 3. Ho KK, Anderson KM, Kannel WB, et al. Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham Heart Study subjects. *Circulation*. Jul 1993;88(1):107-15.
- 4. O'Connell JB, Bristow MR. Economic impact of heart failure in the United States: time for a different approach. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. Jul-Aug 1994;13(4):S107-12.
- Guccione AA, Felson DT, Anderson JJ, et al. The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham Study. *Am J Public Health*. Mar 1994;84(3):351-8.
- 6. Maron BJ, Towbin JA, Thiene G, et al. Contemporary definitions and classification of the cardiomyopathies. *Circulation* 2006;113:1807–1816.
- 7. Felker GM, Hu W, Hare JM, et al: The spectrum of dilated cardiomyopathy. The Johns Hopkins experience with 1,278 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 78:270, 1999.
- Zipes DP, Libby P, Bonow RO. Braunwald's Heart Disease. A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine, 8<sup>th</sup> edition. WB Saunders 2007.
- Fuster V, Walsh RA, O'Rourke RA et al. Hurst's The Heart, 12<sup>th</sup> edition. The McGraw-Hill Inc 2007
- 10. Caforio ALP, Keeling PJ, Zachara E, et al. Evidence from family studies for autoimmunity in dilated cardiomyopathy. *Lancet* 1994;344:773–777.
- Kawai C, Takatsu T. Clinical and experimental studies on cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 1975;293:592–597
- 12. Anderson JL, Carlquist JF, Hammond EH. Deficient natural killer cell activity in patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Lancet* 1982;2:1124–1127.
- 13. Fowles RE, Bieker CP, Stinson EB. Defective in vitro suppressor cell function in idiopathic congestive cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 1979;59:483–491
- Baba A, Yoshikawa T, Iwata M, et al. Antigen-specific effects of autoantibodies against sarcolemmal Na-K-ATPase pump in immunized cardiomyopathic rabbits. *Int J Cardiol* 2006;112:15–20.

- 15. Magnusson Y, Wallukat G, Waagstein F, Hjalmarson A, Hoebeke J. Autoimmunity in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: characterization of antibodies against the beta 1-adrenoceptor with positive chronotropic effect. *Circulation* 1994;89:2760–2767
- Schultheiss HP. Disturbance of the myocardial energy metabolism in dilated cardiomyopathy due to autoimmunological mechanisms. *Circulation* 1993;87(suppl IV):43–48
- Carlquist JF, Menlove RL, Murray MB, O'Connell JB, Anderson JL. HLA class II (DR and DQ) antigen associations in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: validation study and meta-analysis of published HLA association studies. *Circulation* 1991;83:515–522
- Mann DL, Bristow MR. Mechanisms and models in heart failure: the biomedical model and beyond. *Circulation* 2005;111:2837–2849.
- Bristow MR, Gilbert EM. Improvement in cardiac myocyte function by biologic effects of medical therapy: a new concept in the treatment of heart failure. *Eur Heart J* 1995;16(suppl F):20–31.
- 20. Bristow MR. Why does myocardium fail? Insights from basic science. *Lancet* 1998;352 (suppl I);8-14
- 21. Sata M, Sugiura S et al. Coupling between myosin ATLASE cycle and ceratine kinase cycel facilitates cardiac actomyosin sliding in vitro: a clue to mechanical dysfunction during myocardial ischemia. *Circulation* 1996;93:310-17
- Zhang J, McDonald KM. Bioenergetic consequences of left ventricular remodeling. *Circulation* 1995;92:1011-19
- 23. Gerdes AM, Kellerman SE et al. Structural remodeling of cardiac mylytes from patients with chronic ischemic heart disease. *Circulation* 1992;86:426-30
- 24. Bristow MR. Mechanism of action of beta-blocking agents in heart failure. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;80(11A):26L-40L.
- 25. Tan LB, Jalil JE et al. Cardiac myocyte necrosis induced by angiotensin II. *Circ Res* 1991;69:1185-1195
- 26. Mann DL, Kent RL et al. Adrenergic effects on the biology of the adult mammalian cardiocyte. *Circulation* 1992;85:790-804
- 27. Cohn JN. Structural basis of for heart failure: ventricular remodeling and its pharmacological inhibition. *Circulation*. 1995;91:2504-2507
- Mann DL. Mechanisms and models in heart failure: a combinatorial approach. *Circulation*. 1999;100:999-1088

- 29. Ross JJ. Mechanisms of cardiac contraction: what roles for preload, afterload and inotropic state in heart failure? *Eur Heart J.* 1983;4(suppl A):19-28
- Vatner SF. Reduced subendocardial myocardial perfusion as one mechanism for congestive heart failure. *Am J Cardiol.* 1988;62:94E-98E
- 31. Hayashida W, Kumada T, Nohara R et al., Left ventricular regional wall stress in dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 1990;82:2075-2083.
- 32. Sunnerhagen KS, Bhargava V and Shabetai R, Regional left ventricular wall motion abnormalities in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol* 1990;65:364-370
- 33. Julliere Y, Marie PY, Danchin N et al. Radionuclide assessment of regional differences in left ventricular wall motion and myocardial perfusion in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Eur Heart J* 1993;14:1163-1169.
- 34. Fauchier L, Marie O, Casset-Senon D, Babuty D, Cosnay P and Fauchier JP, Interventricular and intraventricular dyssynchrony in idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: a prognostic study with fourier phase analysis of radionuclide angioscintigraphy, *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2002;40:2022-2030.
- 35. Fujita N, Duerinckx AJ and Higgins CB, Variation in left ventricular regional wall stress with cine magnetic resonance imaging: normal subjects versus dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am Heart J* 1993;125:1337-1345.
- 36. Yildirim A, Soylu O, Dagdeviren B et al., Correlation between Doppler derived dP/dT and left ventricular asynchrony in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy: a combined study using strain rate imaging and conventional Doppler echocardiography. *Echocardiography* 2007;24:508-514.
- 37. Yu C-M, Lin H et al., High prevalence of left ventricular systolic and diastolic asynchrony in patients with congestive heart failure and normal QRS duration. *Heart* 2003;89:54-60
- 38. Akiko Soyama MD, Tatsuji Kono MD et al., Intraventricular dyssynchrony may paly a role in the development of of mitral regurgitation in dilated cardiomyopathy. *Journal of cardiac failure* 2005;11:631-637
- 39. Takemoto Y, Hozumi T et al. Beta-blocker Therapy Induces Ventricular Resynchronization in Dilated Cardiomyopathy With Narrow QRS Complex. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49:778-83
- 40. Bach DS, Rob SB et al. Heterogeneity of Ventricular Function and Myocardial Oxidative Metabolism in Nonischemic Dilated Cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;25:1258-62

- 41. Kono T, Sabbah HN et al. Left ventricular shape is the primary determinant of functional mitral regurgitation in heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1992;20:1594-1598
- 42. Ramarkha P, Jonathan H et al. Oxford Handbook of Cardiology. Oxford University Press Inc. 2006;259-304
- Otto CM. Textbook of Clinical Echocardiography, 3rd Editon. Philadelphia: WB Saunders 2004; pp 131-195,228-231
- 44. Kunert M, Ulbricht LJ. Praktische Echocardiographie, 2 Auflage. Koln: Deutsche Arzte Verlag GmbH 2006; pp 182-185
- 45. Swedberg K, Cleland J, Dargie H et al. Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure. Available at: <u>http://www.escardio.org/knowledge/guidelines</u>
- 46. Abraham WT, Krum H. Heart Failure: a practical approach to treatment. The McGraw-Hill Inc 2007
- 47. Topol EJ (editor). Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine, 3<sup>rd</sup> Editon. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins 2006
- 48. Kherani AR, Garrido JM, Cheema FH et al. Nontransplant Surgical Options for Congestive Heart Failure. *Congestive Heart Failure* 2003; 9(1):17-24
- 49. Dickstein ML, Spotnitz HM, Rose EA. Heart reduction surgery: an analysis of the impact on cardiac function. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1998;115:261-262.
- 50. Pinamonti B, Zecchin M et al. Persistance of Restrictive Left Ventricular Filling Pattern in Dilated Cardiomyopathy: An Omnious Prognostic Sign. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:604-12
- 51. Werner GS, Fuchs JB et al. Chantes in Left Ventricular Filling During Follow-up Study in Survivors and Nonsurvivors of Idiopathic Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *Journal of Cardiac Failure* 1996;2(1):5-14
- 52. Werner GS, Schaefer C et al. Prognostic Value of Doppler Echocardiogrpahic Assessment of Left Ventricular Filling in Idiopathic Dilated Cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 1994;73:792-798
- Schannwell CM, Schoebel FC et al. Prognostic Relevanz of Left Ventricular Diastolic Function in Patients with Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *Z Kardiol* 2001;90:269-279
- 54. Rihal CS, Nishimura RA et al. Systolic and Diastolic Dysfunction in Patients with Clinical Diagnosis of Dilated Cardiomyopathy. Relation to Symptoms and Prognosis" *Circulation* 1994 Dec;90(6):2772-9

- 55. Cohn JN, Johnson GR, Shabeai R, Loeb H, Tristani F, Rector TS, Smith R, Fletcher R. Ejection fraction, peak exercise oxygen consumption, cardiothoracic ratio, ventricular arrhythmias, and plasma norepinephrine as determinants of prognosis in heart failure. The V-HeFT VA Cooperative Studies Group. *Circulation* 1993; 87:VI5-16.
- 56. Brophy JM, Deslauries G, Rouleau JL. Long-term prognosis of patients presenting to the emergency room with decompensated congestive heart failure. *Can J Cardiol* 1994; 10: 543-47.
- 57. Mancini DM, Eisen H, Kussmaul W, Mull R, Edmunds LH, Wilson JR. Value of peak exercise oxygen consumption for optimal timing of cardiac transplantation in ambulatory patients with heart failure. *Circulation* 1991; 83: 778-86.
- 58. Szlachcic J, Massie BM, Kramer BL, Topic N, Tubau J: Correlates and prognostic implication of exercise capacity in chronic congestive heart failure. *Am J Cardiol* 1985; 55: 1037-42.
- 59. Baker BJ, Wilen MM, Boyd CM, Dinh H, Franciosa JA: Relation of right ventricular ejection fraction to exercise capacity in chronic left ventricular failure. *Am J Cardiol* 1984; 54: 596-9.
- 60. Unverferth D, Baker P. Value of endomyocardial biopsy. *Am J Med* 1986; 80 (suppl 2B): 22-32.
- 61. Shirey E, Proudfit W, Hawk W. Primary myocardial disease: correlation with clinical findings, angiographic and biopsy date. *Am Heart J* 1980; 99: 198-207.
- 62. Amiya E, Tanabe K et al. Prolonged QRS duration and severity of mitral regurgitation are unfavourable prognostic markers of heart failure in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circ J* 2006;70(1):57-62
- 63. Koelling TM, Aaronson KD et al. Prognostic significance of mitral regurgitation and tricuspid regurgitation in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. *Am Heart* J 2002;144(3):524-9
- 64. Komamura K, Sasaki T et al. Heart fatty acid binding protein is a novel prognostic marker in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy.
- 65. Shen WF, Tribouilloy C, Rey J-L et al. Prognostic significance of Doppler-derived left ventricular diastolic filling filling variables in dialted cardiomyopathy. *Am Heart* J. 1992;124:1524-33

- 66. Huang CM, Young MS, Wei J. Predictors of Short-term Outcome in Chinese Patients with Ambulatory Heart Failure for Heart Transplantation with Ejection Fraction < 25 %. *Jpn Heart J* 2000 Mai:349-68
- 67. Gila Perk, MD, Paul A. Tunick, MD, FACC, and Itzhak Kronzon, MD, FACC, Non Doppler two dimensional strain imaging by echocardiography – from technical considerations to clinical applications. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2007;20:234-243
- 68. Stoylen A. Introduction to Strain and Strain rate imaging of the heart for the novice researcher and curious clinician. Available online at http://folk.ntnu.no/stoylen/strainrate
- 69. Mirsky Y, Parmley WW. Assessment of passive elastic stiffness for isolated heart muscle and the intact heart. *Circ Res* 1973;33(2):233-43.
- 70. Weidemann F, Jamal F, Sutherland GR et al. Myocardial function defined by strain rate and strain during alterations in inotropic states and heart rate. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2002;283:H792-9
- Marwick TH. Measurement of Strain and Strain Rate by Echocardiograhy. Ready for Prime Time? J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47:1313-27
- Greenberg NL, Firstenberg MS, Castro PL et al. Doppler derived myocardial systolic strain rate is a strong index of left ventricular contractility. *Circulation* 2002;105:99-105
- 73. Reisner SA, Lysyansky P, Agmon Y et al. Global longitudinal strain: a novel index of left ventricular systolic function. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr*. 2004;17(6):630-3.
- 74. Koyama J, Ray-Sequin PA, Falk RH et al. Longitudinal myocardial function assessed by tissue velocity, strain and strain rate tissue Doppler echocardiography in patients with AL (primary) cardiac amyloidosis. *Circulation* 2003;107:2446-52
- 75. Bellavia D, Abraham TP et al. Detection of Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction in Cardiac Amyloidosis with Strain Rate Echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2007;20(10):1194-1202
- 76. Hamdy AM. Use of strain and tissue velocity imaging for early detection of regional myocardial dysfunction in patients with beta-thalassemia. *Eur J Echocardiography* 2007;8:102-109.
- 77. Weidemann F, Eyskens B, Mertens L et al. Quantification of regional right and left ventricular function by ultrasonic strain and strain rate indexes in Friedreich's ataxia. *Am J Cardiol* 2003;91:622-6

- 78. Yuda S, Short L, Leano R, Marwick TH. Myocardial abnormalities in hypertensive patients with normal and abnormal left ventricular filling: a study of ultrasound tissue characterisation and strain. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 2002;103:283-93
- 79. Kato TS, Noda A, Izawa H et al. Discrimination of nonobstructive hypertrophic cardiomyopathy from hypertensive left ventricular hypertrophy on the basis of strain rate imaging by tissue Dopper ultrasonography. *Circulation* 2004;110:3808-14
- 80. Saghir M, Areces M, Makan M. Strain Rate Imaging Differentiates Hypertensive Cardiac Hypertrophy from Physiologic Cardiac Hypertrohy (Athlete's Heart). J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2007;20(2):151-157
- 81. Bauer F, Eltchaninoff H, Tron C et al. Acute improvement in global and regional left ventricular systolic function after percutaneous heart valve implantation in patients with symptomatic aortic stenosis. *Circulation* 2004;110:1473-6
- 82. Lee R, Hanekom L, Marwick TH et al. Prediction of subclinical left ventricular dysfunction with strain rate imaging in patients with asympthomatic severe mitral regurgitation. *Am J Cardiol* 2004;94:1333-7
- 83. Hoffmann R, Altiok E, Nowak B et al. Strain rate measurement by Doppler echocardiography allows improved assessment of myocardial viability in patients with depressed left ventricular function. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2002;39:443-9
- 84. Hanekom L, Jenkins C, Short L, Marwick TH. Accuracy of strain rate techniques for identification of viability at dobutamine stress echo: a follow-up study after revascularisation. *Circulation* 2005;112:3892-900
- 85. Voigt JU, Lindenmeier G, Werner D et al. Strain Rate Imaging for the Assessment of Preload–Dependent Changes in Regional Left Ventricular Diastolic Longitudinal Function. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2002;15:13-9
- 86. Stoylen A, Skjelvan G, Skjaerpe T. Flow propagation velocity is not a simple index of diastolic function in early filling. A comparative study of early diastolic strain rate and strain rate propagation, flow and flow rate propagation in normal and reduced diastolic function. *Cardiovascular Ultrasound* 2003;1:3
- Hess W. Herz und Kreislauf. Angewandete Physiologie und Pathophysiologie. 2004;14-19
- 88. Bogaert J and Rademakers E Regional nonuniformity of normal adult human left ventricle. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2001;280(2):H610-H620

- 89. Uematsu M, Miyatake K, Tanaka N et al. Myocardial velocity gradient as a new indicator of regional left ventricular contraction: detection by two-dimensional tissue Doppler imaging technique. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1995;26:217-223.
- 90. Dandel M, Suramelashvili, Lehmkuhl HB et al., 2D strain echocardiography a novel non-invasive tool for pre-transplant evaluation of patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation* 2007;26:S239
- 91. Data from Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. Available online at <a href="http://www.optn.org">www.optn.org</a>
- 92. Data from International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation. Available online at <u>www.ishlt.org</u>
- 93. Norman JD, Turka LA. Primer on Transplantation 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. American Society of Transplantation 2001;323-335
- 94. Komoda T, Hetzer R, Lehmkuhl HB. Destiny of candidates for heart transplantation in the Eurotransplant heart allocation system. <u>Eur J Cardiothorac Surg</u> (2008), doi:10.1016/j.ejcts.2008.03.007 (article in press)
- 95. Daniels LB, Maisel AS. Natriuretic Peptides. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50:2357-68
- 96. Silver MA, Maisel A, Yancy CW et al. BNP Consensus Panel 2004: A Clinical Approach for the Diagnostic, Prognostic, Screening, Treatment Monitoring, and Therapeutic Roles of Natriuretic Peptides in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Congest Heart Fail* 2004;10(5 suppl.3):1-30
- Geenbaum RA, Siew Yen Ho, Gibson DG et al. Left ventricular fiber architecture in man. *Br Heart J* 1981;45:248-63.

Charité - Campus Benjamin Franklin Promotionsbüro Hindenburgdamm 30 12203 Berlin

### Erklärung

"Ich, Ruta Jasaityte, erkläre, dass ich die vorgelegte Dissertationsschrift mit dem Thema: "Prediction of Short–Term Outcomes in Patients with Idiopathic Dilated Cardiomyopathy Referred for Transplantation using Standard Echocardiography and Strain Imaging" selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt, ohne die (unzulässige) Hilfe Dritter verfasst und auch in Teilen keine Kopien anderer Arbeiten dargestellt habe."

Datum

Unterschrift